

# Ronald Reagan Presidential Library Digital Library Collections

---

This is a PDF of a folder from our textual collections.

---

**Collection:** White House Office of Records Management:  
Presidential Handwriting File, 1981-1989  
(COPY SET): Presidential Speeches

**Folder Title:** Folder 313 (09/24/1984 Continued)

**Box:** 17

---

To see more digitized collections visit:

<https://www.reaganlibrary.gov/archives/digitized-textual-material>

To see all Ronald Reagan Presidential Library Inventories, visit:

<https://www.reaganlibrary.gov/archives/white-house-inventories>

Contact a reference archivist at: **reagan.library@nara.gov**

Citation Guidelines: <https://reaganlibrary.gov/archives/research-support/citation-guide>

National Archives Catalogue: <https://catalog.archives.gov/>

*Last Updated: 01/17/2025*

(DOLAN)

SEPTEMBER 24, 1984  
10:30 A.M.  
NEW YORK, NEW YORK

PRESIDENT'S BACKUP COPY

26260555

ADDRESS TO THE UNITED NATIONS GENERAL ASSEMBLY SP 913

MR. PRESIDENT, MR. SECRETARY-GENERAL, DISTINGUISHED HEADS OF STATE, MINISTERS, REPRESENTATIVES AND GUESTS. FIRST OF ALL, I WISH TO CONGRATULATE PRESIDENT LUSAKA ON HIS ELECTION AS PRESIDENT OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY. I WISH YOU EVERY SUCCESS, MR. PRESIDENT, IN CARRYING OUT THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THIS HIGH INTERNATIONAL OFFICE.

IT IS AN HONOR TO BE HERE AND I THANK YOU FOR YOUR GRACIOUS INVITATION. I WOULD SPEAK IN SUPPORT OF THE TWO GREAT GOALS THAT LED TO THE FORMATION OF THIS ORGANIZATION -- THE CAUSE OF PEACE AND THE CAUSE OF HUMAN DIGNITY.

THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THIS ASSEMBLY -- THE PEACEFUL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES BETWEEN PEOPLES AND NATIONS -- CAN BE DISCHARGED SUCCESSFULLY ONLY IF WE RECOGNIZE THE GREAT COMMON GROUND UPON WHICH WE ALL STAND: OUR FELLOWSHIP AS MEMBERS OF THE HUMAN RACE, OUR ONENESS AS INHABITANTS OF THIS PLANET, OUR PLACE AS REPRESENTATIVES OF BILLIONS OF OUR COUNTRYMEN WHOSE FONDEST HOPE REMAINS THE END TO WAR AND TO THE REPRESSION OF THE HUMAN SPIRIT. THESE ARE THE IMPORTANT, CENTRAL REALITIES THAT BIND US; THAT PERMIT US TO DREAM OF A FUTURE WITHOUT THE ANTAGONISMS OF THE PAST. AND JUST AS SHADOWS CAN BE SEEN ONLY WHERE THERE IS LIGHT, SO, TOO, CAN WE OVERCOME WHAT IS WRONG ONLY IF WE REMEMBER HOW MUCH IS RIGHT; AND WE WILL RESOLVE WHAT DIVIDES US ONLY IF WE REMEMBER HOW MUCH MORE UNITES US.

THIS CHAMBER HAS HEARD ENOUGH ABOUT THE PROBLEMS AND DANGERS AHEAD; TODAY LET US DARE TO SPEAK OF A FUTURE THAT IS BRIGHT AND HOPEFUL AND CAN BE OURS IF ONLY WE WILL SEEK IT. I BELIEVE THAT FUTURE IS FAR NEARER THAN MOST OF US WOULD DARE TO HOPE.

AT THE START OF THIS DECADE ONE SCHOLAR AT THE HUDSON INSTITUTE NOTED THAT MANKIND ALSO HAD UNDERGONE ENORMOUS CHANGES FOR THE BETTER IN THE PAST TWO CENTURIES, CHANGES WHICH AREN'T ALWAYS READILY NOTICED OR WRITTEN ABOUT.

UP UNTIL 200 YEARS AGO, THERE WERE RELATIVELY FEW PEOPLE IN THE WORLD. HE WROTE. "ALL HUMAN SOCIETIES WERE POOR. DISEASE AND EARLY DEATH DOMINATED MOST PEOPLE'S LIVES. PEOPLE WERE IGNORANT, AND LARGELY AT THE MERCY OF FORCES OF NATURE."

"NOW," HE SAID, "WE ARE SOMEWHERE NEAR THE MIDDLE OF A PROCESS OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT . . . AT THE END OF THAT PROCESS, ALMOST NO ONE WILL LIVE IN A COUNTRY AS POOR AS THE RICHEST COUNTRY OF THE PAST. THERE WILL BE MANY MORE PEOPLE . . . LIVING LONG, HEALTHY LIVES, WITH IMMENSE KNOWLEDGE AND MORE TO LEARN THAN ANYBODY HAS TIME FOR." THEY WILL BE "ABLE TO COPE WITH THE FORCES OF NATURE, AND ALMOST INDIFFERENT TO DISTANCE."

WE DO LIVE TODAY, AS THAT SCHOLAR SUGGESTED, IN THE MIDDLE OF ONE OF THE MOST IMPORTANT AND DRAMATIC PERIODS IN HUMAN HISTORY -- ONE IN WHICH ALL OF US CAN SERVE AS CATALYSTS FOR AN ERA OF WORLD PEACE AND UNIMAGINED HUMAN FREEDOM AND DIGNITY.

TODAY I WOULD LIKE TO REPORT TO YOU, AS DISTINGUISHED AND INFLUENTIAL MEMBERS OF THE WORLD COMMUNITY, ON WHAT THE UNITED STATES HAS BEEN ATTEMPTING TO DO TO HELP MOVE THE WORLD CLOSER TO THIS NEW ERA. ON MANY FRONTS ENORMOUS PROGRESS HAS BEEN MADE, AND I THINK OUR EFFORTS ARE COMPLEMENTED BY THE TREND OF HISTORY.

IF WE LOOK CLOSELY ENOUGH, I BELIEVE WE CAN SEE ALL THE WORLD MOVING TOWARD A DEEPER APPRECIATION OF THE VALUE OF HUMAN FREEDOM IN BOTH ITS POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC MANIFESTATIONS. THIS IS PARTIALLY MOTIVATED BY A WORLDWIDE DESIRE FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH AND HIGHER STANDARDS OF LIVING. AND THERE IS AN INCREASING REALIZATION THAT ECONOMIC FREEDOM IS A PRELUDE TO ECONOMIC PROGRESS AND GROWTH -- AND IS INTRICATELY AND INSEPARABLY LINKED TO POLITICAL FREEDOM.

EVERYWHERE, PEOPLE AND GOVERNMENTS ARE BEGINNING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE SECRET OF A PROGRESSIVE NEW WORLD IS TO TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE CREATIVITY OF THE HUMAN SPIRIT; TO ENCOURAGE INNOVATION AND INDIVIDUAL ENTERPRISE; TO REWARD HARD WORK; AND TO REDUCE BARRIERS TO THE FREE FLOW OF TRADE AND INFORMATION.

OUR OPPOSITION TO ECONOMIC RESTRICTIONS AND TRADE BARRIERS IS CONSISTENT WITH OUR VIEW OF ECONOMIC FREEDOM AND HUMAN PROGRESS. WE BELIEVE SUCH BARRIERS POSE A PARTICULARLY DANGEROUS THREAT TO THE DEVELOPING NATIONS, AND THEIR CHANCE TO SHARE IN WORLD PROSPERITY THROUGH EXPANDED EXPORT MARKETS. TOMORROW AT THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND, I WILL ADDRESS THIS QUESTION MORE FULLY, INCLUDING AMERICA'S DESIRE FOR MORE OPEN TRADING MARKETS THROUGHOUT THE WORLD.

4

THIS DESIRE TO CUT DOWN TRADE BARRIERS, AND OUR OPEN ADVOCACY OF FREEDOM AS THE ENGINE OF HUMAN PROGRESS ARE TWO OF THE IMPORTANT WAYS THE UNITED STATES AND THE AMERICAN PEOPLE HOPE TO ASSIST IN BRINGING ABOUT A WORLD WHERE PROSPERITY IS COMMONPLACE, CONFLICT AN ABERRATION, AND HUMAN DIGNITY AND FREEDOM A WAY OF LIFE.

---

LET ME PLACE THESE STEPS MORE IN CONTEXT BY BRIEFLY OUTLINING THE MAJOR GOALS OF AMERICAN FOREIGN POLICY, AND THEN EXPLORING WITH YOU THE PRACTICAL WAYS WE ARE ATTEMPTING TO FURTHER FREEDOM AND PREVENT WAR: BY THAT I MEAN, FIRST, HOW WE HAVE MOVED TO STRENGTHEN TIES WITH OLD ALLIES AND NEW FRIENDS; SECOND, WHAT WE ARE DOING TO HELP AVOID THE REGIONAL CONFLICTS THAT COULD CONTAIN THE SEEDS OF WORLD CONFLAGRATION; AND THIRD, THE STATUS OF OUR EFFORTS WITH THE SOVIET UNION TO REDUCE THE LEVELS OF ARMS.

---

LET ME BEGIN WITH A WORD ABOUT THE OBJECTIVES OF AMERICAN FOREIGN POLICY, WHICH HAVE BEEN CONSISTENT SINCE THE POST-WAR ERA, AND WHICH FUELED THE FORMATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND WERE INCORPORATED INTO THE U.N. CHARTER ITSELF.

---

THE U.N. CHARTER STATES TWO OVERRIDING GOALS: "TO SAVE SUCCEEDING GENERATIONS FROM THE SCOURGE OF WAR, WHICH TWICE IN OUR LIFETIME HAS BROUGHT UNTOLD SORROW TO MANKIND," AND "TO REAFFIRM FAITH IN FUNDAMENTAL HUMAN RIGHTS, IN THE DIGNITY AND WORTH OF THE HUMAN PERSON, IN THE EQUAL RIGHTS OF MEN AND WOMEN AND OF NATIONS LARGE AND SMALL."

---

THE FOUNDERS OF THE UNITED NATIONS UNDERSTOOD FULL WELL THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THESE TWO GOALS. AND I WANT YOU TO KNOW THAT THE GOVERNMENT OF THE UNITED STATES WILL CONTINUE TO VIEW THIS CONCERN FOR HUMAN RIGHTS AS THE MORAL CENTER OF OUR FOREIGN POLICY. WE CAN NEVER LOOK AT ANY PEOPLE'S FREEDOM AS A BARGAINING CHIP IN WORLD POLITICS. OUR HOPE IS FOR A TIME WHEN ALL THE PEOPLE OF THE WORLD CAN ENJOY THE BLESSINGS OF PERSONAL LIBERTY.

BUT I WOULD LIKE ALSO TO EMPHASIZE THAT OUR CONCERN FOR PROTECTING HUMAN RIGHTS IS PART OF OUR CONCERN FOR PROTECTING THE PEACE.

THE ANSWER IS FOR ALL NATIONS TO FULFILL THE OBLIGATIONS THEY FREELY ASSUMED UNDER THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS. IT STATES: "THE WILL OF THE PEOPLE SHALL BE THE BASIS OF THE AUTHORITY OF GOVERNMENT; THIS WILL SHALL BE EXPRESSED IN PERIODIC AND GENUINE ELECTIONS." THE DECLARATION ALSO INCLUDES THESE RIGHTS: "TO FORM AND TO JOIN TRADE UNIONS," "TO OWN PROPERTY ALONE AS WELL AS IN ASSOCIATION WITH OTHERS," "TO LEAVE ANY COUNTRY INCLUDING HIS OWN AND TO RETURN TO HIS COUNTRY," AND TO ENJOY "FREEDOM OF OPINION AND EXPRESSION." PERHAPS THE MOST GRAPHIC EXAMPLE OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN HUMAN RIGHTS AND PEACE IS THE RIGHT OF PEACE GROUPS TO EXIST AND TO PROMOTE THEIR VIEWS. IN FACT, THE TREATMENT OF PEACE GROUPS MAY BE A LITMUS TEST OF A GOVERNMENT'S TRUE DESIRE FOR PEACE.

IN ADDITION TO EMPHASIZING THIS TIE BETWEEN THE ADVOCACY OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND THE PREVENTION OF WAR, THE UNITED STATES HAS TAKEN IMPORTANT STEPS, AS I MENTIONED EARLIER, TO PREVENT WORLD CONFLICT.

6

THE STARTING POINT AND CORNERSTONE OF OUR FOREIGN POLICY IS OUR ALLIANCE AND PARTNERSHIP WITH OUR FELLOW DEMOCRACIES. FOR 35 YEARS, THE NORTH ATLANTIC ALLIANCE HAS GUARANTEED THE PEACE IN EUROPE. IN BOTH EUROPE AND ASIA, OUR ALLIANCES HAVE BEEN THE VEHICLE FOR A GREAT RECONCILIATION AMONG NATIONS THAT HAD FOUGHT BITTER WARS IN DECADES AND CENTURIES PAST. AND HERE IN THE WESTERN HEMISPHERE, NORTH AND SOUTH ARE BEING LIFTED ON THE TIDE OF FREEDOM, AND ARE JOINED IN A COMMON EFFORT TO FOSTER PEACEFUL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT.

WE ARE PROUD OF OUR ASSOCIATION WITH ALL THOSE COUNTRIES THAT SHARE OUR COMMITMENT TO FREEDOM, HUMAN RIGHTS, THE RULE OF LAW -- AND INTERNATIONAL PEACE. INDEED, THE BULWARK OF SECURITY THAT THE DEMOCRATIC ALLIANCES PROVIDE IS ESSENTIAL -- AND REMAINS ESSENTIAL -- TO THE MAINTENANCE OF WORLD PEACE. EVERY ALLIANCE INVOLVES BURDENS AND OBLIGATIONS, BUT THESE ARE FAR LESS THAN THE RISKS AND SACRIFICES THAT WOULD RESULT IF THE PEACE-LOVING NATIONS WERE DIVIDED AND NEGLECTFUL OF THEIR COMMON SECURITY. THE PEOPLE OF THE UNITED STATES WILL REMAIN FAITHFUL TO THEIR COMMITMENTS.

BUT THE UNITED STATES IS ALSO FAITHFUL TO ITS ALLIANCES AND FRIENDSHIPS WITH SCORES OF NATIONS IN THE DEVELOPED AND DEVELOPING WORLDS WITH DIFFERING POLITICAL SYSTEMS, CULTURES, AND TRADITIONS. THE DEVELOPMENT OF TIES BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES AND CHINA -- A SIGNIFICANT GLOBAL EVENT OF THE LAST DOZEN YEARS -- SHOWS OUR WILLINGNESS TO IMPROVE RELATIONS WITH COUNTRIES IDEOLOGICALLY VERY DIFFERENT FROM OURS.

WE ARE READY TO BE THE FRIEND OF ANY COUNTRY THAT IS A FRIEND TO US AND A FRIEND OF PEACE. AND WE RESPECT GENUINE NONALIGNMENT. OUR OWN NATION WAS BORN IN REVOLUTION; WE HELPED PROMOTE THE PROCESS OF DECOLONIZATION THAT BROUGHT ABOUT THE INDEPENDENCE OF SO MANY MEMBERS OF THIS BODY -- AND WE ARE PROUD OF THAT HISTORY.

WE ARE PROUD, TOO, OF OUR ROLE IN THE FORMATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND OUR SUPPORT OF THIS BODY OVER THE YEARS. AND LET ME AGAIN EMPHASIZE OUR UNWAVERING COMMITMENT TO A CENTRAL PRINCIPLE OF THE UNITED NATIONS SYSTEM, THE PRINCIPLE OF UNIVERSALITY, BOTH HERE AND IN THE U.N. TECHNICAL AGENCIES AROUND THE WORLD. IF UNIVERSALITY IS IGNORED, IF NATIONS ARE EXPELLED ILLEGALLY, THEN THE U.N. ITSELF CANNOT BE EXPECTED TO SUCCEED.

THE UNITED STATES WELCOMES DIVERSITY AND PEACEFUL COMPETITION; WE DO NOT FEAR THE TRENDS OF HISTORY. WE ARE NOT IDEOLOGICALLY RIGID -- WE DO HAVE PRINCIPLES AND WE WILL STAND BY THEM, BUT WE ALSO SEEK THE FRIENDSHIP AND GOODWILL OF ALL, BOTH OLD FRIENDS AND NEW.

WE HAVE ALWAYS SOUGHT TO LEND A HAND TO HELP OTHERS -- FROM OUR RELIEF EFFORTS IN EUROPE AFTER WORLD WAR I, TO THE MARSHALL PLAN AND MASSIVE FOREIGN ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS AFTER WORLD WAR II. SINCE 1946, THE U.S. HAS PROVIDED OVER \$115 BILLION IN ECONOMIC AID TO DEVELOPING COUNTRIES, AND TODAY PROVIDES ABOUT ONE-THIRD OF THE NEARLY \$90 BILLION IN FINANCIAL RESOURCES, PUBLIC AND PRIVATE, THAT FLOWS TO THE DEVELOPING WORLD. AND THE U.S. IMPORTS ABOUT ONE-THIRD OF THE MANUFACTURED EXPORTS OF THE DEVELOPING WORLD.



8

BUT ANY ECONOMIC PROGRESS, AS WELL AS ANY MOVEMENT IN THE DIRECTION OF GREATER UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE NATIONS OF THE WORLD, ARE, OF COURSE, ENDANGERED BY THE PROSPECT OF CONFLICT AT BOTH THE GLOBAL AND REGIONAL LEVEL. IN A FEW MOMENTS, I WILL TURN TO THE MENACE OF CONFLICT ON A WORLDWIDE SCALE, AND DISCUSS THE STATUS OF NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES AND THE SOVIET UNION. BUT PERMIT ME FIRST TO ADDRESS THE CRITICAL PROBLEM OF REGIONAL CONFLICTS -- FOR HISTORY DISPLAYS TRAGIC EVIDENCE THAT IT IS THESE CONFLICTS WHICH CAN SET OFF THE SPARKS LEADING TO WORLDWIDE CONFLAGRATION.

IN A GLASS DISPLAY CASE ACROSS THE HALL FROM THE OVAL OFFICE AT THE WHITE HOUSE THERE IS A GOLD MEDAL -- THE NOBEL PEACE PRIZE WON BY THEODORE ROOSEVELT FOR HIS CONTRIBUTION IN MEDIATING THE RUSSO-JAPANESE WAR IN 1905. IT WAS THE FIRST SUCH PRIZE WON BY AN AMERICAN, AND IT IS PART OF A TRADITION OF WHICH THE AMERICAN PEOPLE ARE VERY PROUD -- A TRADITION THAT IS BEING CONTINUED TODAY IN MANY REGIONS OF THE GLOBE.

WE ARE ENGAGED, FOR EXAMPLE, IN DIPLOMACY TO RESOLVE CONFLICTS IN SOUTHERN AFRICA, WORKING WITH THE FRONT LINE STATES AND OUR PARTNERS IN THE CONTACT GROUP. MOZAMBIQUE AND SOUTH AFRICA HAVE REACHED AN HISTORIC ACCORD ON NON-AGGRESSION AND COOPERATION; SOUTH AFRICA AND ANGOLA HAVE AGREED ON A DISENGAGEMENT OF FORCES FROM ANGOLA, AND THE GROUNDWORK HAS BEEN LAID FOR THE INDEPENDENCE OF NAMIBIA, WITH VIRTUALLY ALL ASPECTS OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 435 AGREED UPON.

LET ME ADD THAT THE UNITED STATES CONSIDERS IT A MORAL IMPERATIVE THAT SOUTH AFRICA'S RACIAL POLICIES EVOLVE PEACEFULLY BUT DECISIVELY TOWARD A SYSTEM COMPATIBLE WITH BASIC NORMS OF JUSTICE, LIBERTY, AND HUMAN DIGNITY. I AM PLEASED THAT AMERICAN COMPANIES IN SOUTH AFRICA, BY PROVIDING EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES, ARE CONTRIBUTING TO THE ECONOMIC ADVANCEMENT OF THE BLACK POPULATION. BUT CLEARLY, MUCH MORE MUST BE DONE.

IN CENTRAL AMERICA, THE UNITED STATES HAS LENT SUPPORT TO A DIPLOMATIC PROCESS TO RESTORE REGIONAL PEACE AND SECURITY. WE HAVE COMMITTED SUBSTANTIAL RESOURCES TO PROMOTE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL PROGRESS.

THE GROWING SUCCESS OF DEMOCRACY IN EL SALVADOR IS THE BEST PROOF THAT THE KEY TO PEACE LIES IN A POLITICAL SOLUTION. FREE ELECTIONS BROUGHT INTO OFFICE A GOVERNMENT DEDICATED TO DEMOCRACY, REFORM, ECONOMIC PROGRESS, AND REGIONAL PEACE.

REGRETTABLY, THERE ARE FORCES IN THE REGION EAGER TO THWART DEMOCRATIC CHANGE -- BUT THESE FORCES ARE NOW ON THE DEFENSIVE. THE TIDE IS TURNING IN THE DIRECTION OF FREEDOM. WE CALL UPON NICARAGUA, IN PARTICULAR, TO ABANDON ITS POLICIES OF SUBVERSION AND MILITARISM, AND TO CARRY OUT THE PROMISES IT MADE TO THE OAS TO ESTABLISH DEMOCRACY AT HOME.

THE MIDDLE EAST HAS KNOWN MORE THAN ITS SHARE OF TRAGEDY AND CONFLICT FOR DECADES, AND THE UNITED STATES HAS BEEN ACTIVELY INVOLVED IN PEACE DIPLOMACY FOR JUST AS LONG. WE CONSIDER OURSELVES A FULL PARTNER IN THE QUEST FOR PEACE. THE RECORD OF THE 11 YEARS SINCE THE OCTOBER WAR SHOWS THAT MUCH CAN BE ACHIEVED THROUGH NEGOTIATIONS; IT ALSO SHOWS THAT THE ROAD IS LONG AND HARD:

10

-- TWO YEARS AGO, I PROPOSED A FRESH START TOWARD A NEGOTIATED SOLUTION TO THE ARAB-ISRAELI CONFLICT. MY INITIATIVE OF SEPTEMBER 1, 1982, CONTAINS A SET OF POSITIONS THAT CAN SERVE AS A BASIS FOR A JUST AND LASTING PEACE. THAT INITIATIVE REMAINS A REALISTIC AND WORKABLE APPROACH, AND I AM COMMITTED TO IT AS FIRMLY AS ON THE DAY I ANNOUNCED IT. AND THE FOUNDATION STONE OF THIS EFFORT REMAINS SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 242, WHICH IN TURN WAS INCORPORATED IN ALL ITS PARTS IN THE CAMP DAVID ACCORDS.

-- THE TRAGEDY OF LEBANON HAS NOT ENDED. ONLY LAST WEEK, A DESPICABLE ACT OF BARBARISM BY SOME WHO ARE UNFIT TO ASSOCIATE WITH HUMANKIND REMINDED US ONCE AGAIN THAT LEBANON CONTINUES TO SUFFER. IN 1983, WE HELPED ISRAEL AND LEBANON REACH AN AGREEMENT THAT, IF IMPLEMENTED, COULD HAVE LED TO THE FULL WITHDRAWAL OF ISRAELI FORCES IN THE CONTEXT OF THE WITHDRAWAL OF ALL FOREIGN FORCES. THIS AGREEMENT WAS BLOCKED, AND THE LONG AGONY OF THE LEBANESE CONTINUES. THOUSANDS OF PEOPLE ARE STILL KEPT FROM THEIR HOMES BY CONTINUED VIOLENCE, AND ARE REFUGEES IN THEIR OWN COUNTRY. THE ONCE FLOURISHING ECONOMY OF LEBANON IS NEAR COLLAPSE. ALL OF LEBANON'S FRIENDS SHOULD WORK TOGETHER TO HELP END THIS NIGHTMARE.

-- IN THE GULF, THE UNITED STATES HAS SUPPORTED A SERIES OF SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS THAT CALL FOR AN END TO THE WAR BETWEEN IRAN AND IRAQ THAT HAS MEANT SO MUCH DEATH AND DESTRUCTION, AND PUT THE WORLD'S ECONOMIC WELL-BEING AT RISK. OUR HOPE IS THAT HOSTILITIES WILL END SOON, LEAVING EACH SIDE WITH ITS POLITICAL AND TERRITORIAL INTEGRITY INTACT, SO THAT BOTH MAY DEVOTE THEIR ENERGIES TO ADDRESSING THE NEEDS OF THEIR PEOPLE AND A RETURN TO RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHER STATES.

-- THE LESSON OF EXPERIENCE IS THAT NEGOTIATION WORKS. THE PEACE TREATY BETWEEN ISRAEL AND EGYPT BROUGHT ABOUT THE PEACEFUL RETURN OF THE SINAI, CLEARLY SHOWING THAT THE NEGOTIATING PROCESS BRINGS RESULTS WHEN THE PARTIES COMMIT THEMSELVES TO IT. THE TIME IS BOUND TO COME WHEN THE SAME WISDOM AND COURAGE WILL BE APPLIED, WITH SUCCESS, TO REACH PEACE BETWEEN ISRAEL AND ALL OF ITS ARAB NEIGHBORS IN A MANNER THAT ASSURES SECURITY FOR ALL IN THE REGION, THE RECOGNITION OF ISRAEL, AND A SOLUTION TO THE PALESTINIAN PROBLEM.

IN EVERY PART OF THE WORLD, THE UNITED STATES IS SIMILARLY ENGAGED IN PEACE DIPLOMACY AS AN ACTIVE PLAYER OR A STRONG SUPPORTER:

-- IN SOUTHEAST ASIA, WE HAVE BACKED THE EFFORTS OF ASEAN TO MOBILIZE INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT FOR A PEACEFUL RESOLUTION OF THE CAMBODIAN PROBLEM, WHICH MUST INCLUDE THE WITHDRAWAL OF VIETNAMESE FORCES AND THE ELECTION OF A REPRESENTATIVE GOVERNMENT. ASEAN'S SUCCESS IN PROMOTING ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL DEVELOPMENT HAS MADE A MAJOR CONTRIBUTION TO THE PEACE AND STABILITY OF THE REGION.

-- IN AFGHANISTAN, THE DEDICATED EFFORTS OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL AND HIS REPRESENTATIVES TO FIND A DIPLOMATIC SETTLEMENT HAVE OUR STRONG SUPPORT. I ASSURE YOU THAT THE UNITED STATES WILL CONTINUE TO DO EVERYTHING POSSIBLE TO FIND A NEGOTIATED OUTCOME WHICH PROVIDES THE AFGHAN PEOPLE WITH THE RIGHT TO DETERMINE THEIR OWN DESTINY; ALLOWS THE AFGHAN REFUGEES TO RETURN TO THEIR OWN COUNTRY IN DIGNITY; AND PROTECTS THE LEGITIMATE SECURITY INTERESTS OF ALL NEIGHBORING COUNTRIES.

12

-- ON THE DIVIDED AND TENSE KOREAN PENINSULA, WE HAVE STRONGLY BACKED THE CONFIDENCE-BUILDING MEASURES PROPOSED BY THE REPUBLIC OF KOREA AND BY THE U.N. COMMAND AT PANMUNJON. THESE ARE AN IMPORTANT FIRST STEP TOWARD PEACEFUL REUNIFICATION IN THE LONGER TERM.

-- WE TAKE HEART FROM PROGRESS BY OTHERS IN LESSENING TENSIONS, NOTABLY THE EFFORTS BY THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC TO REDUCE BARRIERS BETWEEN THE TWO GERMAN STATES.

-- AND THE UNITED STATES STRONGLY SUPPORTS THE SECRETARY GENERAL'S EFFORTS TO ASSIST THE CYPRIOT PARTIES IN ACHIEVING A PEACEFUL AND REUNITED CYPRUS.

THE UNITED STATES HAS BEEN, AND ALWAYS WILL BE, A FRIEND OF PEACEFUL SOLUTIONS.

THIS IS NO LESS TRUE WITH RESPECT TO MY COUNTRY'S RELATIONS WITH THE SOVIET UNION.

WHEN I APPEARED BEFORE YOU LAST YEAR, I NOTED THAT WE CANNOT COUNT ON THE INSTINCT FOR SURVIVAL ALONE TO PROTECT US AGAINST WAR. DETERRENCE IS NECESSARY BUT NOT SUFFICIENT. AMERICA HAS REPAIRED ITS STRENGTH; WE HAVE INVIGORATED OUR ALLIANCES AND FRIENDSHIPS. WE ARE READY FOR CONSTRUCTIVE NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE SOVIET UNION.

WE RECOGNIZE THAT THERE IS NO SANE ALTERNATIVE TO NEGOTIATIONS ON ARMS CONTROL AND OTHER ISSUES BETWEEN OUR TWO NATIONS WHICH HAVE THE CAPACITY TO DESTROY CIVILIZATION AS WE KNOW IT. I BELIEVE THIS IS A VIEW SHARED BY VIRTUALLY EVERY COUNTRY IN THE WORLD, AND BY THE SOVIET UNION ITSELF.



I WANT TO SPEAK TO YOU TODAY ON WHAT THE UNITED STATES AND THE SOVIET UNION CAN ACCOMPLISH TOGETHER IN THE COMING YEARS, AND THE CONCRETE STEPS WE NEED TO TAKE.

---

YOU KNOW, AS I STAND HERE AND LOOK OUT FROM THIS PODIUM -- THERE IN FRONT OF ME -- I CAN SEE THE SEAT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE FROM THE SOVIET UNION. AND NOT FAR FROM THAT SEAT, JUST OVER TO THE SIDE, IS THE SEAT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE FROM THE UNITED STATES.

---

IN THIS HISTORIC ASSEMBLY HALL, IT IS CLEAR THERE IS NOT A GREAT DISTANCE BETWEEN US. OUTSIDE THIS ROOM, WHILE THERE WILL STILL BE CLEAR DIFFERENCES, THERE IS EVERY REASON WHY WE SHOULD DO ALL THAT IS POSSIBLE TO SHORTEN THAT DISTANCE. THAT'S WHY WE ARE HERE. ISN'T THAT WHAT THIS ORGANIZATION IS ALL ABOUT?

---

LAST JANUARY 16TH, I SET OUT THREE OBJECTIVES FOR U.S.-SOVIET RELATIONS THAT CAN PROVIDE AN AGENDA FOR OUR WORK OVER THE MONTHS AHEAD.

---

FIRST, I SAID, WE NEED TO FIND WAYS TO REDUCE -- AND EVENTUALLY TO ELIMINATE -- THE THREAT AND USE OF FORCE IN SOLVING INTERNATIONAL DISPUTES. OUR CONCERN OVER THE POTENTIAL FOR NUCLEAR WAR CANNOT DEFLECT US FROM THE TERRIBLE HUMAN TRAGEDIES OCCURRING EVERY DAY IN THE REGIONAL CONFLICTS I JUST DISCUSSED. TOGETHER, WE HAVE A PARTICULAR RESPONSIBILITY TO CONTRIBUTE TO POLITICAL SOLUTIONS TO THESE PROBLEMS, RATHER THAN TO EXACERBATE THEM THROUGH THE PROVISION OF EVEN MORE WEAPONS.

---

I PROPOSE THAT OUR TWO COUNTRIES AGREE TO EMBARK ON PERIODIC CONSULTATIONS AT POLICY LEVEL ABOUT REGIONAL PROBLEMS. WE WILL BE PREPARED, IF THE SOVIETS AGREE, TO MAKE SENIOR EXPERTS AVAILABLE AT REGULAR INTERVALS FOR IN-DEPTH EXCHANGES OF VIEWS. I HAVE ASKED SECRETARY SHULTZ TO EXPLORE THIS WITH FOREIGN MINISTER GROMYKO. SPHERES OF INFLUENCE ARE A THING OF THE PAST. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN AMERICAN AND SOVIET INTERESTS ARE NOT. THE OBJECTIVES OF THIS POLITICAL DIALOGUE WILL BE TO HELP AVOID MISCALCULATION, REDUCE THE POTENTIAL RISK OF U.S.-SOVIET CONFRONTATION, AND HELP THE PEOPLE IN AREAS OF CONFLICT TO FIND PEACEFUL SOLUTIONS.

THE UNITED STATES AND THE SOVIET UNION HAVE ACHIEVED AGREEMENTS OF HISTORIC IMPORTANCE ON SOME REGIONAL ISSUES. THE AUSTRIAN STATE TREATY AND THE BERLIN ACCORDS ARE NOTABLE AND LASTING EXAMPLES. LET US RESOLVE TO ACHIEVE SIMILAR AGREEMENTS IN THE FUTURE.

OUR SECOND TASK MUST BE TO FIND WAYS TO REDUCE THE VAST STOCKPILES OF ARMAMENTS IN THE WORLD. I AM COMMITTED TO REDOUBLING OUR NEGOTIATING EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE REAL RESULTS: IN GENEVA, A COMPLETE BAN ON CHEMICAL WEAPONS; IN VIENNA, REAL REDUCTIONS -- TO LOWER AND EQUAL LEVELS -- IN SOVIET AND AMERICAN, WARSAW PACT AND NATO, CONVENTIONAL FORCES; IN STOCKHOLM, CONCRETE PRACTICAL MEASURES TO ENHANCE MUTUAL CONFIDENCE, TO REDUCE THE RISK OF WAR, AND TO REAFFIRM COMMITMENTS CONCERNING NON-USE OF FORCE.

IN THE FIELD OF NUCLEAR TESTING, IMPROVEMENTS IN VERIFICATION ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE THRESHOLD TEST BAN AND PEACEFUL NUCLEAR EXPLOSIONS AGREEMENTS; AND IN THE FIELD OF NON-PROLIFERATION, CLOSE COOPERATION TO STRENGTHEN THE INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND PRACTICES AIMED AT HALTING THE SPREAD OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS, TOGETHER WITH REDOUBLED EFFORTS TO MEET THE LEGITIMATE EXPECTATIONS OF ALL NATIONS THAT THE SOVIET UNION AND THE UNITED STATES WILL SUBSTANTIALLY REDUCE THEIR OWN NUCLEAR ARSENALS. WE AND THE SOVIETS HAVE AGREED TO UPGRADE OUR HOTLINE COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY, AND OUR DISCUSSIONS OF NUCLEAR NON-PROLIFERATION IN RECENT YEARS HAVE BEEN USEFUL TO BOTH SIDES. WE THINK THERE ARE OTHER POSSIBILITIES FOR IMPROVING COMMUNICATIONS IN THIS AREA THAT DESERVE SERIOUS EXPLORATION.

I BELIEVE THE PROPOSAL OF THE SOVIET UNION FOR OPENING U.S.-SOVIET TALKS IN VIENNA PROVIDED AN IMPORTANT OPPORTUNITY TO ADVANCE THESE OBJECTIVES. WE HAVE BEEN PREPARED TO DISCUSS A WIDE RANGE OF ISSUES OF CONCERN TO BOTH SIDES, SUCH AS THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEFENSIVE AND OFFENSIVE FORCES, AND WHAT HAS BEEN CALLED THE MILITARIZATION OF SPACE.\* HOWEVER, ANY AGREEMENT MUST LOGICALLY DEPEND UPON OUR ABILITY TO GET THE COMPETITION IN OFFENSIVE ARMS UNDER CONTROL AND TO ACHIEVE GENUINE STABILITY AT SUBSTANTIALLY LOWER LEVELS OF NUCLEAR ARMS.

\* DURING THE TALKS, WE WOULD CONSIDER WHAT MEASURES OF RESTRAINT BOTH SIDES MIGHT TAKE WHILE NEGOTIATIONS PROCEED.



16

OUR APPROACH IN ALL THESE AREAS WILL BE DESIGNED TO TAKE INTO ACCOUNT CONCERNS THE SOVIET UNION HAS VOICED. IT WILL ATTEMPT TO PROVIDE A BASIS FOR AN HISTORIC BREAKTHROUGH IN ARMS CONTROL. I AM DISAPPOINTED THAT WE WERE NOT ABLE TO OPEN OUR MEETING IN VIENNA EARLIER THIS MONTH, ON THE DATE ORIGINALLY PROPOSED BY THE SOVIET UNION. I HOPE WE CAN BEGIN THESE TALKS BY THE END OF THE YEAR OR SHORTLY THEREAFTER.

---

THE THIRD TASK I SET IN JANUARY WAS TO ESTABLISH A BETTER WORKING RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE SOVIET UNION AND THE UNITED STATES, ONE MARKED BY GREATER COOPERATION AND UNDERSTANDING.

---

WE HAVE MADE SOME MODEST PROGRESS. WE HAVE REACHED AGREEMENTS TO IMPROVE OUR HOTLINE, EXTEND OUR 10-YEAR ECONOMIC AGREEMENT, ENHANCE CONSULAR COOPERATION, AND EXPLORE COORDINATION OF SEARCH AND RESCUE EFFORTS AT SEA.

---

WE HAVE ALSO OFFERED TO INCREASE SIGNIFICANTLY THE AMOUNT OF U.S. GRAIN FOR PURCHASE BY THE SOVIETS, AND TO PROVIDE THE SOVIETS A DIRECT FISHING ALLOCATION OFF U.S. COASTS. BUT THERE IS MUCH MORE WE COULD DO TOGETHER. I FEEL PARTICULARLY STRONGLY ABOUT BREAKING DOWN THE BARRIERS BETWEEN THE PEOPLES OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE SOVIET UNION, AND BETWEEN OUR POLITICAL, MILITARY, AND OTHER LEADERS.

---

NOW, ALL OF THESE STEPS THAT I HAVE MENTIONED, AND ESPECIALLY THE ARMS CONTROL NEGOTIATIONS, ARE EXTREMELY IMPORTANT TO A STEP-BY-STEP PROCESS TOWARD PEACE. BUT LET ME ALSO SAY THAT WE NEED TO EXTEND THE ARMS CONTROL PROCESS, TO BUILD A BIGGER UMBRELLA UNDER WHICH IT CAN OPERATE -- A ROADMAP, IF YOU WILL, SHOWING WHERE, DURING THE NEXT 20 YEARS OR SO, THESE INDIVIDUAL EFFORTS CAN LEAD.

---

THIS CAN GREATLY ASSIST STEP-BY-STEP NEGOTIATIONS, AND ENABLE US TO AVOID HAVING ALL OF OUR HOPES OR EXPECTATIONS RIDE ON ANY SINGLE SET OR SERIES OF NEGOTIATIONS. IF PROGRESS IS TEMPORARILY HALTED AT ONE SET OF TALKS, THIS NEWLY ESTABLISHED FRAMEWORK FOR ARMS CONTROL COULD HELP TAKE UP THE SLACK AT OTHER NEGOTIATIONS.

TODAY, TO THE GREAT END OF LIFTING THE DREAD OF NUCLEAR WAR FROM THE PEOPLES OF THE EARTH, I INVITE THE LEADERS OF THE WORLD TO JOIN IN A NEW BEGINNING. WE NEED A FRESH APPROACH TO REDUCING INTERNATIONAL TENSIONS. HISTORY DEMONSTRATES BEYOND CONTROVERSY THAT, JUST AS THE ARMS COMPETITION HAS ITS ROOTS IN POLITICAL SUSPICIONS AND ANXIETIES, SO IT CAN BE CHanneLED IN MORE STABILIZING DIRECTIONS, AND EVENTUALLY BE ELIMINATED, IF THOSE POLITICAL SUSPICIONS AND ANXIETIES ARE ADDRESSED AS WELL.

TOWARD THIS END, I WILL SUGGEST TO THE SOVIET UNION THAT WE INSTITUTIONALIZE REGULAR MINISTERIAL OR CABINET-LEVEL MEETINGS BETWEEN OUR TWO COUNTRIES ON THE WHOLE AGENDA OF ISSUES BEFORE US, INCLUDING THE PROBLEM OF NEEDLESS OBSTACLES TO UNDERSTANDING. TO TAKE BUT ONE IDEA FOR DISCUSSION: IN SUCH TALKS WE COULD CONSIDER THE EXCHANGE OF OUTLINES OF 5-YEAR MILITARY PLANS FOR WEAPONS DEVELOPMENT AND OUR SCHEDULES OF INTENDED PROCUREMENT. WE WOULD ALSO WELCOME THE EXCHANGE OF OBSERVERS AT MILITARY EXERCISES AND LOCATIONS. AND I PROPOSE WE FIND A WAY FOR SOVIET EXPERTS TO COME TO THE UNITED STATES' NUCLEAR TEST SITE, AND FOR OURS TO GO TO THEIRS, TO MEASURE DIRECTLY THE YIELDS OF TESTS OF NUCLEAR WEAPONS. WE SHOULD WORK TOWARD HAVING SUCH ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE BY NEXT SPRING.

I HOPE THAT THE SOVIET UNION WILL COOPERATE IN THIS UNDERTAKING AND RECIPROCATE IN A MANNER THAT WILL ENABLE THE TWO COUNTRIES TO ESTABLISH THE BASIS FOR VERIFICATION FOR EFFECTIVE LIMITS ON UNDERGROUND NUCLEAR TESTING.

I BELIEVE SUCH TALKS COULD WORK RAPIDLY TOWARD DEVELOPING A NEW CLIMATE OF POLICY UNDERSTANDING, ONE THAT IS ESSENTIAL IF CRISES ARE TO BE AVOIDED AND REAL ARMS CONTROL IS TO BE NEGOTIATED. OF COURSE, SUMMIT MEETINGS HAVE A USEFUL ROLE TO PLAY. BUT THEY NEED TO BE CAREFULLY PREPARED, AND THE BENEFIT HERE IS THAT MEETINGS AT THE MINISTERIAL LEVEL WOULD PROVIDE THE KIND OF PROGRESS THAT IS THE BEST PREPARATION FOR HIGHER LEVEL TALKS BETWEEN OURSELVES AND THE SOVIET LEADERS.

HOW MUCH PROGRESS WE WILL MAKE, AND AT WHAT PACE, I CANNOT SAY. BUT WE HAVE A MORAL OBLIGATION TO TRY AND TRY AGAIN.

SOME MAY DISMISS SUCH PROPOSALS AND MY OWN OPTIMISM AS SIMPLISTIC AMERICAN IDEALISM. AND THEY WILL POINT TO THE BURDENS OF THE MODERN WORLD AND TO HISTORY. WELL, YES, IF WE SIT DOWN AND CATALOGUE, YEAR BY YEAR, GENERATION BY GENERATION, THE FAMINES, THE PLAGUES, THE WARS, THE INVASIONS MANKIND HAS ENDURED, THE LIST WILL GROW SO LONG, AND THE ASSAULT ON HUMANITY SO TERRIFYING, THAT IT SEEMS TOO MUCH FOR THE HUMAN SPIRIT TO BEAR.

BUT ISN'T THIS NARROW AND SHORTSIGHTED, AND NOT AT ALL HOW WE THINK OF HISTORY? YES, THE DEEDS OF INFAMY OR INJUSTICE ARE ALL RECORDED, BUT WHAT SHINES OUT FROM THE PAGES OF HISTORY IS THE DARING OF THE DREAMERS, AND THE DEEDS OF THE BUILDERS AND THE DOERS.

THESE THINGS MAKE UP THE STORIES WE TELL AND PASS ON TO OUR CHILDREN. THEY COMPRISE THE MOST ENDURING AND STRIKING FACT ABOUT HUMAN HISTORY: THAT THROUGH THE HEARTBREAK AND TRAGEDY MAN HAS ALWAYS DARED TO PERCEIVE THE OUTLINE OF HUMAN PROGRESS, THE STEADY GROWTH IN NOT JUST THE MATERIAL WELL-BEING, BUT THE SPIRITUAL INSIGHT OF MANKIND.

---

→ THERE HAVE BEEN TYRANTS AND MURDERERS, AND FOR A TIME THEY CAN SEEM INVINCIBLE. BUT IN THE END, THEY ALWAYS FALL. THINK ON IT . . . ALWAYS. ALL THROUGH HISTORY, THE WAY OF TRUTH AND LOVE HAS ALWAYS WON. <sup>W</sup> THUS HAS THE BELIEF AND VISION OF MAHATMA GANDHI BEEN DESCRIBED, AND IT REMAINS TODAY A VISION THAT IS GOOD AND TRUE.

---

"ALL IS GIFT," IS SAID TO HAVE BEEN THE FAVORITE EXPRESSION OF ANOTHER GREAT SPIRITUALIST, A SPANISH SOLDIER WHO GAVE UP THE WAYS OF WAR FOR THAT PATH OF LOVE AND PEACE. AND IF WE ARE TO MAKE REALITIES OF THE TWO GREAT GOALS OF THE U.N. CHARTER -- THE DREAMS OF PEACE AND HUMAN DIGNITY -- WE MUST TAKE TO HEART THESE WORDS OF IGNATIUS LOYOLA; WE MUST PAUSE LONG ENOUGH TO CONTEMPLATE THE GIFTS RECEIVED FROM HIM WHO MADE US: THE GIFT OF LIFE, THE GIFT OF THIS WORLD. THE GIFT OF EACH OTHER.

---

AND THE GIFT OF THE PRESENT. IT IS THIS PRESENT, THIS TIME, THAT NOW WE MUST SEIZE. I LEAVE YOU WITH A REFLECTION FROM MAHATMA GANDHI, SPOKEN WITH THOSE IN MIND WHO SAID THAT THE DISPUTES AND CONFLICTS OF THE MODERN WORLD ARE TOO GREAT TO OVERCOME, SPOKEN SHORTLY AFTER GANDHI'S QUEST FOR INDIAN INDEPENDENCE TOOK HIM TO BRITAIN.

---

I AM NOT CONSCIOUS OF A SINGLE EXPERIENCE THROUGHOUT MY THREE MONTHS' STAY IN ENGLAND AND EUROPE, HE SAID, THAT MADE ME FEEL THAT AFTER ALL EAST IS EAST AND WEST IS WEST. ON THE CONTRARY, I HAVE BEEN CONVINCED MORE THAN EVER THAT HUMAN NATURE IS MUCH THE SAME, NO MATTER UNDER WHAT CLIME IT FLOURISHES, AND THAT IF YOU APPROACHED PEOPLE WITH TRUST AND AFFECTION, YOU WOULD HAVE TEN-FOLD TRUST AND THOUSAND-FOLD AFFECTION RETURNED TO YOU.

FOR THE SAKE OF A PEACEFUL WORLD, A WORLD WHERE HUMAN DIGNITY AND FREEDOM IS RESPECTED AND ENSHRINED, LET US APPROACH EACH OTHER WITH TEN-FOLD TRUST AND THOUSAND-FOLD AFFECTION. A NEW FUTURE AWAITS US. THE TIME IS HERE, THE MOMENT IS NOW.

ONE OF THE FOUNDING FATHERS OF OUR NATION, THOMAS PAINE, SPOKE WORDS THAT APPLY TO ALL OF US GATHERED HERE TODAY: "WE HAVE IT IN OUR POWER TO BEGIN THE WORLD OVER AGAIN."

GOD BLESS YOU.

P.8 ?  
P.18 ?  
The President has seen \_\_\_\_\_

(Dolan/BE/NSC)  
September 21, 1984  
9:30 a.m.

PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS: UNITED NATIONS GENERAL ASSEMBLY  
NEW YORK, NEW YORK  
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 24, 1984

Mr. President, Mr. Secretary-General, distinguished Heads of State, Ministers, Representatives and guests. First of all, I wish to congratulate President Lusaka on his election ~~this past week~~ as President of the General Assembly. I wish you every success, Mr. President, in carrying out the responsibilities of this ~~very~~ high international office.

It is an honor to be here and I thank you for your gracious invitation. I ~~stand before you today~~ <sup>WOULD SPEAK</sup> in support of the two great goals that led to the formation of this organization -- the cause of peace and the cause of human dignity.

The responsibility of this Assembly -- the peaceful resolution of disputes between peoples and nations -- can be discharged successfully only if we recognize the great common ground upon which we all stand. Our fellowship as members of the human race, our oneness as inhabitants of this planet, our place as representatives of billions of our countrymen whose fondest hope remains the end to war and to the repression of the human spirit, ~~wherever it exists.~~ These are the important, central realities that bind us: <sup>THAT</sup> ~~They~~ permit us to dream of a future ~~that~~ <sup>WITHOUT</sup> ~~puts away~~ the antagonisms of the past. And just as shadows can be seen only where there is light, so, too, can we see what is wrong only if we remember how much is right; and we will resolve what divides us only if we remember how much more unites us. This chamber has heard enough about the problems and dangers

ahead; today let us dare to speak of a future that is bright and hopeful, ~~a future that~~ <sup>AND</sup> can be ours if only we will seek it, ~~and a future that~~ <sup>THAT FUTURE</sup> I believe is far nearer than most of us would even dare to hope.

At the start of this decade one scholar at the Hudson Institute noted that mankind also had undergone enormous changes for the better in the past two centuries, changes which aren't always readily noticed or written about.

"Up until 200 years ago, there were relatively few people in the world," he wrote. "All human societies were poor. Disease and early death dominated most people's lives. People were ignorant, and largely at the mercy of forces of nature."

"Now," he said, "we are somewhere near the middle of a process of economic development . . . At the end of that process, almost no one will live in a country as poor as the richest country of the past. There will be many more people, ~~most~~ living long, healthy lives, with immense knowledge and more to learn than anybody has time for, <sup>They will be</sup> ~~largely~~ able to cope with the forces of nature and almost indifferent to distance."

We do live today <sup>as</sup> that scholar suggested, in the middle of one of the most important and dramatic periods in human history -- one in which all of us can serve as catalysts for an era of world peace and unimagined human freedom and dignity.

Today I would like to report to you, as distinguished and influential members of the world community, on what the United States has been attempting to do to help move the world closer to this new era. On many fronts enormous progress has been made,



and I think our efforts are complemented by ~~the general tide of events~~, the trend of history.

If we look closely enough, I believe we can see all the world moving toward a deeper appreciation of the value of human freedom in both its political and economic manifestations. [When

I spoke to the British Parliament two years ago, I mentioned this growing trend in the world toward the idea of self-government and the development of democratic institutions, and I pledged the United States to new efforts to assist its spread. I can tell you with pride today that our initiatives for democratic development now involve thousands of citizens from scores of nations throughout the world.]

~~But I also noted that this growth in interest in~~ (some 91)  
~~self government was~~ <sup>This is 90</sup> partially motivated by a worldwide desire for economic growth and higher standards of living. And it is the increasing realization that economic freedom is a prelude to economic progress and growth -- and ~~that economic freedom itself~~ is intricately and inseparably linked to political freedom, -- ~~that is a great cause for great optimism.~~

Everywhere, people and governments are beginning to recognize that the secret of a progressive new world is to take advantage of the creativity of the human spirit; to encourage innovation and individual enterprise; ~~to free the forces of production and productivity;~~ <sup>AND</sup> to reward hard work; ~~to protect the right to own property;~~ to reduce barriers to the free flow of trade and information.

Our opposition to economic restrictions and trade barriers is consistent with our view of economic freedom and human



progress. We believe such barriers pose a particularly dangerous threat to the developing nations, and their chance to share in world prosperity through expanded export markets. Tomorrow at the International Monetary Fund, I will address this question more fully, including America's desire for more open trading markets throughout the world.

This desire to cut down trade barriers, ~~between the peoples of the Earth~~ and our open advocacy of freedom as the engine of human progress, are two of the important ways the United States and the American people hope to assist in bringing about a world where prosperity is commonplace, conflict ~~is~~ an aberration, and human dignity and freedom a way of life.

Let me place these steps more in context by briefly outlining the major goals of American foreign policy, and then exploring with you the practical ways we are attempting to further freedom and prevent war: By that I mean, first, how we have moved to strengthen ties with old allies and new friends; second, what we are doing to help avoid the regional conflicts that could contain the seeds of world conflagration; and third, the status of our efforts with the Soviet Union to reduce the levels of arms.

Let me begin with a word about the objectives of American foreign policy, which have been consistent since the post-war era, and which fueled the formation of the United Nations and were incorporated into the U.N. Charter itself.

The U.N. Charter states two overriding goals: "to save succeeding generations from the scourge of war, which twice in our lifetime has brought untold sorrow to mankind," and "to

reaffirm faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of the human person, in the equal rights of men and women and of nations large and small."

The founders of the United Nations understood full well the relationship between these two goals. ~~I mentioned a moment ago the important link between human rights and economic progress.~~ And I want you to know that the Government of the United States will continue to view this concern for human rights ~~and the cause of human freedom as the core~~ <sup>As</sup> the moral center of our foreign policy. We can never look at any people's freedom as a bargaining chip in world politics. ~~our strategy is a forward strategy for freedom,~~ Our hope is for a time when all the people of the world can enjoy the blessings of personal liberty, ~~and the right to self-government.~~

But I would like also to emphasize that our concern for protecting human rights is part of our concern for protecting the peace. Unrest and conflict are inevitable if citizens are subject to injustice; there can be no true peace without respect for individual liberty. We have seen in dictatorships of every stripe, in the developing world and in Eastern Europe, that oppression leads to rebellion and to regional instability

The answer is for all nations to fulfill the obligations they freely assumed under the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. It states: "The will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of government; this will shall be expressed in periodic and genuine elections." The Declaration also includes these rights: "to form and to join trade unions," "to own property alone as well as in association with others," "to leave

any country including his own and to return to his country," "to freedom of opinion and expression." Perhaps the most graphic example of the relationship between human rights and peace is the right of peace groups to exist and to promote their views. In fact, the treatment of peace groups may be a litmus test of a government's true desire for peace. ~~Constituencies for peace and~~

~~freedom, such as those in Poland, are growing throughout the world and their treatment by some governments shows that the connection between human rights and the pursuit of peace has not been fully grasped.~~

In addition to emphasizing this tie between the advocacy of human rights and the prevention of war, the United States has taken three important steps to prevent world conflict that I mentioned earlier. First, the starting point and cornerstone of our foreign policy is our alliance and partnership with our fellow democracies. For 35 years, the North Atlantic Alliance has guaranteed the peace in Europe. In both Europe and Asia, our alliances have been the vehicle for a great reconciliation among nations that had fought bitter wars in decades and centuries past.

We are proud of our association with all those countries that share our commitment to ~~democracy~~, freedom, human rights, the rule of law -- and international peace. Indeed, the bulwark of security that the democratic alliances provide is essential -- and remains essential -- to the maintenance of world peace. Every alliance involves burdens and obligations, but these are far less than the risks and sacrifices that would result if the peace-loving nations were divided and neglectful of their common

security. The people of the United States will remain faithful to their commitments.

But the United States is also faithful to its alliances and friendships with scores of nations in the developed and developing worlds with differing political systems, cultures, and traditions. The development of ties between the United States and China -- a significant global event of the last dozen years -- shows our willingness to improve relations with countries ideologically very different from ours.

We are ready to be the friend of any country that is a friend to us and a friend of peace. And we respect genuine nonalignment. Our own Nation was born in revolution; we helped promote the process of decolonization that brought about the independence of so many members of this body -- and we are proud of that history.

We are proud, too, of our role in the formation of the United Nations and our support of this body over the years. And let me again emphasize our unwavering commitment to a central principle of the United Nations system, the principle of universality, both here and in the U.N. technical agencies around the world. If universality is ignored, if nations are expelled illegally, then the U.N. itself cannot be expected to succeed.

The United States welcomes ~~enthusiastically so~~ diversity and peaceful competition; we do not fear the trends of history. ~~The American people~~ <sup>We</sup> are not ideologically rigid -- we do have principles and we will stand by them, but we also seek the friendship and goodwill of all, both old friends and new.

~~The United States has~~ <sup>We have</sup> always sought to lend a hand to help others -- from our relief efforts in Europe after World War I, to the Marshall Plan and massive foreign assistance programs after World War II. Since 1946, the U.S. has provided over \$115 billion in economic aid to developing countries, and today ~~the U.S.~~ provides about one-third of the nearly \$90 billion in financial resources, public and private, that flows to the developing world, and the U.S. imports ~~more than~~ one-third of the manufactured exports of the developing world. ?X

But any economic progress, as well as any movement in the direction of greater understanding between the nations of the world, are, of course, endangered by the prospect of conflict at both the global and regional level. In a few moments, I will turn to the menace of conflict on a worldwide scale, and discuss the status of negotiations between the United States and the Soviet Union. But permit me first to address the critical problem of regional conflicts -- for history displays tragic evidence that it is these conflicts which can set off the sparks leading to worldwide conflagration.

In a glass display case across the hall from the Oval Office at the White House there is a gold medal -- the Nobel Peace Prize won by Theodore Roosevelt for his contribution in mediating the Russo-Japanese War <sup>in</sup> ~~of~~ 1905. It was the first such prize won by an American, and it is part of a tradition of which the American people are very proud -- a tradition that is being continued today in many regions of the globe. X

We are engaged, for example, in diplomacy to resolve conflicts in ~~/~~ Southern Africa, working with the Front Line States X

and our partners in the Contact Group. Mozambique and South Africa have reached an historic accord on non-aggression and cooperation; South Africa and Angola have agreed on a disengagement of forces from Angola, and the groundwork has been laid for the independence of Namibia, with virtually all aspects of Security Council Resolution 435 agreed upon. Let me add that the United States considers it a moral imperative that South Africa's racial policies evolve peacefully but decisively toward a system compatible with basic norms of justice, liberty, and human dignity. I am pleased that American companies in South Africa, by providing equal employment opportunities, are contributing to the economic advancement of the black population. But clearly, much more must be done.

In Central America, the United States has lent support to a diplomatic process to restore regional peace and security. We have committed substantial resources to promote ~~democracy~~, economic development, and social progress.

The growing success of democracy in El Salvador is the best proof that the key to peace lies in a political solution. Free elections brought into office a government dedicated to democracy, reform, economic progress, and regional peace. Regrettably, there are forces in the region eager to thwart democratic change -- but these forces are now on the defensive. The tide is turning in the direction of freedom. We call upon Nicaragua, in particular, to abandon its policies of subversion ~~AND~~ militarism, ~~and military alliance with totalitarian powers~~, and to carry out the promises it made to the OAS to establish democracy at home.

The Middle East has known more than its share of tragedy and conflict for decades, and the United States has been actively involved in peace diplomacy for just as long. We consider ourselves a full partner in the quest for peace. The record of the 11 years since the October War shows that much can be achieved through negotiations; it also shows that the road is long and hard:

~~It is a long and hard road, and it is a road that has been traveled many times before. It is a road that has led to many failures, but it is a road that has also led to many successes. It is a road that has been traveled by many people, and it is a road that has been traveled by many nations. It is a road that has been traveled by many of our friends and allies, and it is a road that has been traveled by many of our enemies.~~

-- Two years ago, I proposed a fresh start toward a negotiated solution to the Arab-Israeli conflict. My initiative of September 1, 1982, contains a set of positions that can serve as a basis for a just and lasting peace. That initiative remains a realistic and workable approach, and I am committed to it as firmly as on the day I announced it. And the foundation stone of this effort remains Security Council Resolution 242, which in turn was incorporated in all its parts in the Camp David Accords.

-- The tragedy of Lebanon has not ended. Only last week a ~~deep~~ <sup>act of terrorism</sup> ~~by some who are UNFIT TO~~ <sup>associated with human</sup> ~~further senseless brutality~~ reminded us once again that Lebanon continues to suffer. In 1983, we helped Israel and Lebanon reach an agreement that, if implemented, could have led to the full withdrawal of Israeli forces in the context of the withdrawal of all foreign forces. This agreement was blocked, and the long agony of the Lebanese continues. Thousands of people are still kept from their homes by continued violence, and are refugees in their own country. The once flourishing economy of Lebanon is near collapse. All of Lebanon's friends should work together to help end this nightmare.

-- In the Gulf, the United States has supported a series of Security Council resolutions that call for an end to the war